ON APPEAL TO THE SUPREME COURT

OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

THERESA ALEXANDER

FILED

2007-WC-00026 **CLAIMANT / APPELLEE**

CLAIM NO. CV06-273GA

VS

AUG 0 6 2007

OFFICE OF THE CLERK GOOLSBY TRUCKING COMPANY, INC. SUPREME COURT EMPLOYER / APPELLANT COURT OF APPEALS **AND FLEET FORCE**

GOOLSBY TRUCKING'S BRIEF IN REPLY TO THE BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

JOE M. DAVIS ATTORNEY FOR THE EMPLOYER MS BAR NO.

OF COUNSEL:

RUTLEDGE, DAVIS AND HARRIS, PLLC 113 West Bankhead Street Post Office Box 29 New Albany, Mississippi 38652 (662) 534-6421

ON APPEAL TO THE SUPREME COURT

OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

THERESA ALEXANDER

VS

÷

÷

ł

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A.. Course of Proceedings.

The Appellee, Theresa Alexander, filed a Petition to Controvert on March 31, 2004. (T.R. at 88-89). It was stipulated by the parties that the average weekly wage at the time of injury was \$920.00 per week. Alexander reached maximum medical improvement on August 30, 2003. The Administrative Judge ruled in favor of Alexander at the workers compensation hearing, finding a 70% loss of wage earning capacity and holding that Goolsby was Alexander's sole employer. The Administrative Judge awarded Alexander Permanent Partial Disability of \$154.34 per week for 450 weeks beginning August 30, 2003. (T.R. at 136-146). An amended order was filed requiring Goolsby to pay permanent partial disability in the amount of \$331.06 per week for 450 weeks. (T.R. at 147).

Goolsby appealed this decision which was then affirmed by the Full Commission. (T.R. at 151). At that point, Goolsby filed a Notice of Appeal (T.R. at 4-5) with the Circuit Court of Alcorn County which affirmed the decision of the Commission. (T.R. at 329). Goolsby then filed a Notice of Appeal to the Supreme Court of Mississippi. (T.R. at 330-331). Initial briefs have been filed by both the Appellant and the Appellee. Goolsby now files this brief in reply to the Appellee's Brief.

B. Statement of Relevant Facts.

The Appellee, Theresa Alexander, is a forty-two year old, single mother with two children, who would now be approximately sixteen and twenty-one years of age. She has a high school diploma and has finished approximately three years of college. Her work history includes

I.

such jobs as being a dispatcher for the Corinth Police Department and the Alcorn County Sheriff's Department. (T.R. at 16-18).

Alexander worked as a commercial truck driver since 1990. (T.R. at 19). In May of 2002, Alexander learned of Goolsby Trucking through a fellow driver who had a relationship with Goolsby. After that, Alexander completed an application with Goolsby in their New Albany, Mississippi office. (T.R. at 22). Sport Goolsby, an officer of Goolsby Trucking, reviewed the employment application and forwarded it, along with his recommendation, to a company named Fleet Force, Inc. (Fleet) that hires commercial drivers and then leases them to individual trucking companies. (T.R. at 66). Fleet accepted Alexander's application although Alexander stated that she was not aware of Fleet acting as her hiring employer and that she was not consulted regarding the arrangement. (T.R. at 59-61).

In 1998, Ms. Alexander was involved in a serious motor vehicle accident in which she suffered a broken femur, facial disfigurement, and a bruised kidney. These injuries resulted in her being unable to work for approximately three to four months. In 2000, Alexander suffered a low back pain and underwent carpal tunnel surgery. (T.R. at 137-138).

On or about March 31, 2003, Alexander claims to have suffered a work related injury wherein she fell and landed on the center of her back. Even after security at the site of the accident requested Alexander to seek immediate medical attention, she refused and continued to work that day. Several days after the fall, Alexander stated that she began to experience pain and discomfort in her lower back region. Approximately a week after the fall, she went to the Corinth Hospital for treatment where she was instructed to see her family physician. (T.R. at 36-38).

-2-

At some point during this week, she informed an officer at Goolsby Trucking about the fall and subsequent injury. (T.R. at 39). She then came to the New Albany office and filed an accident report per request of Sport Goolsby, who then forwarded the accident report to Fleet who handled the worker's compensation insurance. (T.R. at 70). An employee of Fleet handled Alexander's claim, including paying the initial medical expenses. (T.R. at 39). No one at Goolsby ever handled issues with Alexander's injury, medical payments, or her worker's compensation claim. (T.R. at 58).

Alexander was initially seen by Paula Stennett, FNP, who referred her to Dr. Glen Crosby, a neurosurgeon. (T.R. at 38-39). In May of 2003, Alexander underwent an MRI that indicated her lumbar spine was normal even though she had very small disc bulges at two levels. (T.R. at 94, 98). Dr. Crosby's diagnosis was soft tissue and myofascial strain and sprain. He recommended physical therapy and medication. (T.R. at 98). In July of 2004, Alexander was evaluated by Dr. James C. O'Brien, an orthopaedic surgeon who noted bulging discs at three levels. Dr. O'Brien noted that successful medical treatment for Alexander's condition was unlikely. He placed her off work and testified that she was no longer able to perform this type of job. However, he did testify that he would place no restrictions upon her walking or sitting, or her ability to use her hands as related to putting small objects together. (T.R. at 158-187).

Alexander was not fired from her truck driving job. She had requested assignments to drive loads that required no loading or unloading of cargo. (T.R. at 54-55, 69). However, when these assignments were not available in large numbers, she left the company voluntarily. (T.R. 44, 55, 69).

Following the 2003 injury, Alexander attended a mortgage origination school in Florida

and obtained a mortgage broker's license. She is currently licensed in Florida and has secured a job with a mortgage origination company, but she has not started work yet. (T.R. at 46-47). She has testified that her injuries will not affect her ability to perform this job in any fashion. While her ultimate wage earning capacity as a mortgage broker is currently unknown, it is likely that Alexander will earn a 10-11% commission on each loan she procures which will likely result in an even higher wage earning capacity than she had prior to the accident. (T.R. at 55-57).

II.

ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Review of Commission Determination.

On matters of law, the Commission's findings are subject to a *de novo* standard of review. *McElveen v. Croft Metals, Inc.*, 915 So.2d 14 (Miss. App. 2005); citing *KLLM, Inc. v. Fowler*, 589 So. 2d 670, 675 (Miss. 1991) and *Dillon v. Roadway Express, Inc.* 823 So. 2d 588, 590 (Miss. App. 2002). Deference should only be given to a Commission decision when it is not inconsistent with the law. *Lane Furniture Industries, Inc. v. Essary*, 919 So.2d 153 (Miss. App. 2005). The Mississippi Supreme Court must overturn the Commission's decision when it is arbitrary and capricious or based upon an erroneous application of the law. *Weatherspoon v. Croft Metals, Inc.*, 853 So. 2d 776 (Miss. 2003).

In *Masonite Corporation v. Fields*, the Mississippi Supreme Court held that when the decision of the Workmen's Compensation Commission is clearly erroneous and adverse to the overwhelming weight of the evidence the Court must reverse the order of the Commission. 229 Miss. 524, 91 So.2d 282 (1956). "A finding is clearly erroneous when, although there is some slight evidence to support it, the reviewing court on the entire evidence is left with the definite

-4-

and firm conviction that a mistake has been made by the Commission in its findings of fact and in its application of the Act." *J.R. Logging v. Halford*, 765 So.2d 580 (Miss. App. 2000). The Mississippi Supreme Court has also held, "where the findings of the Commission are contrary to the overwhelming weight of the credible evidence, we will not hesitate to reverse." *Dependants of Chapman v. Hanson Scale Co.*, 495 So.2d 1357, 1360 (Miss. 1986); citing *Myles v. Rockwell International*, 445 So.2d 528, 536-37 (Miss. 1983) and Johnson v. Ferguson, 435 So.2d 528, 536-37 (Miss. 1983) and Johnson v. Ferguson, 435 So. 2d 1191, 1194-95 (Miss. 1983).

B. Arguments.

ι.

i

1. Appellee Is Not Entitled to Permanent Partial Disability Benefits.

Disability is defined as the incapacity, because of injury, to earn the wages which the employee was receiving at the time of the injury in the same or other employment. Dunn, <u>Mississippi Worker's Compensation</u>, §72 (3d ed. 1982). If the injury prevents the employee from resuming her former trade, work or employment, this alone is not the test of disability to earn wages or the test of the degree of such disability. *Id.* The definition relates to loss of wage earning capacity in "the same or other employment," and the meaning is that the employee, after his period of temporary total incapacity, must seek employment in another or different trade to earn wages. <u>MWCA, § 2(9)</u>; *Compere's Nursing Home v. Biddy*, 243 So.2d 412 (Miss. 1971). The employee's obligation is not discharged by seeking employment unsuccessfully only in a "like or similar" type of work, but must look to other types of gainful employment. *Id.*

When an employee is shown to be able to pursue gainful work of any kind, the Appellee must present a prima facie case that the injury resulted in a loss of wage earning capacity. *Thompson v. Wells-Lamont Corp.*, 362 So.2d 638 (Miss. 1978). The Appellee must show that a

reasonable effort was used in finding other employment. *Pontotoc Wire Products Co. v. Ferguson*, 384 So.2d 601 (Miss. 1980).

A claim for compensation has no analogy to a suit to recover damages, but is related exclusively to compensation for loss of earnings. *Thyer Mfg. Co. v. Mooney*, 173 So.2d 652 (Miss. 1965). Pain alone is not compensable. *Rivers Const. Co. v. Dubose*, 130 So.2d 865 (Miss. 1961). An injury which produces pain but does not prevent the employee from discharging her duties is not compensable for the time while the employee continues to work whether or not she suffers pain in the process. *Mississippi Insurance Guaranty Assoc. v. Clark*, 299 So.2d 205 (Miss. 1974).

The burden of proof is upon the Appellee to establish all of the elements of the claim, including the degree and extent of the disability, injury and the loss of wage earning capacity. *Lauren v. Frazier*, 213 So.2d 548 (Miss. 1968). Generally, in back cases, "medical" is the equivalent to functional disability and relates to the actual physical impairment. Dunn, <u>Mississippi Worker's Compensation.</u> § 118.3 (3d ed. Supp. 1990). "Industrial disability" is the functional or medical disability as it affects the claimant's ability to perform the duties of employment. *Id.* Medical or functional disability may or may not be the same as industrial disability. *Id.* To establish the required industrial disability, the burden is upon the Appellee to prove: (1) medical impairment; and (2) that the medical impairment resulted in a loss of wage earning capacity. *Robinson v. Packard Elec. Div. G.M.C., 523 So.2d 329 (Miss. 1988).*

If an Appellee returns to work and receives wages that were equal to or exceed the wages earned prior to the injury, a presumption of no disability exists. *Wilcher v. D.D. Ballard Const. Co.*, 187 So.2d 308 (Miss. 1966). This presumption is only defeated when the Appellee offers

-6-

evidence to rebut that presumption. Dunn, <u>Mississippi Worker's Compensation</u>, § 67 (3d ed. 1982). The presumption is not rebutted by medical estimates of partial disability alone, nor by lay logic which might point to a conclusion that one "having undergone major back surgery, for example, has less capacity, due to a weakened back, than before the injury which necessitated the operation and this is so even where the employee is qualified only for low-skilled, manual or semi-manual labor." Dunn, <u>Mississippi Worker's Compensation</u>, § 67 (3d ed. Supp. 1990). The presumption is a well settled rule of law and cannot be disregarded in individual cases where rebuttal proof might have been, but was not, presented. *Id.* In the absence of qualifying rebuttal evidence, the presumption stands. *Id.* Evidence showing disability to rebut the presumption must independently show incapacity or that post-injury earnings are an unreliable basis for the determination. *Id.*

Furthermore, the Administrative Judge found that Alexander was partially permanently disabled from August 30, 2003 to the present. August 30, 2003 was the date when Alexander quit her job with Goolsby Trucking, but she went on from that to purchase a truck and trailer of her own and drive as an owner/operator for nearly a year after that point. Clearly, she had no loss of wage earning capacity during that time.

The decision of the Commission should be reversed, or in the alternative, remanded with instructions for further proceedings. Under the Mississippi Worker's Compensation statute, Alexander is not disabled and is not entitled to receive compensation benefits. Alexander has failed to present any evidence that the alleged work-related injury caused her to suffer a loss of wage earning capacity as is required to prove the existence of disability under Mississippi Worker's Compensation law. Alexander does not meet the requirements to be considered

í

-7-

disabled. In the case at bar, it is undisputed that Alexander reasonably sought other employment. The issue is not that she sought employment, but that she has been accepted for employment, and still refuses to work.

,

Alexander has testified that, upon leaving the trucking industry, she enrolled in a mortgage origination school in Florida and obtained her mortgage broker's license. Upon completing the course of study, she obtained a position as mortgage broker in a Florida office, but she has yet to report for a single day of work. Alexander's duty to seek employment does not end with the search itself. If she is able to procure employment, and her alleged injuries do not prevent her from working, she must work. Because Alexander refuses to begin her new job, her true loss of wage earning capacity, if any, cannot be accurately determined. Determining Appellee's actual loss of wage earning capacity is dependent upon the amount she will earn in her new profession.

Alexander has failed in her duty to adequately and fully disclose the expected income she intends to receive as a licensed mortgage broker in Florida. It seems unlikely that she entered a specialized school, passed a state licensing exam, and even went so far as to secure a job in her chosen profession, and still remains ignorant to her expected income. Even if she was not completely certain of her expected earnings, she must, at least, have a reasonable expectation of her future income. An accurate loss of wage earning capacity must be calculated as without this determination any award to Alexander would be unsupported by substantial evidence.

Based upon a report by the United States Department of Labor, a person with Alexander's level of experience, entering a "professional specialty" field, excluding law and medicine, earns an average wage of \$38.19 per hour in the Tampa/St. Petersburg/Clearwater, Florida market.

-8-

(*See* Exhibit "A.") Even with a 16.8% deviation, Alexander could expect her wage earning capacity to increase by more than 30% from the wage she earned prior to the accident.

If an Appellee returns to work and receives wages that were equal to or exceed the wages earned prior to the injury, a presumption of no disability exists. *Wilcher v. D.D. Ballard Const. Co.*, 187 So.2d 308 (Miss. 1966). The presumption is a well settled area of law, and Alexander would find it difficult to defeat such a presumption. If Alexander began to work, she would likely not be found disable and would "forfeit" any benefits the Court might award.

Alexander attempts to argue in her brief that she did not actually have employment in Florida. However, in the Administrative Judge's Order, he states, "Ms. Alexander attended mortgage origination school in Florida and obtained her mortgage license. She is licensed in Florida and **has obtained a commission based job**, but has not moved." (AJ order, page 5 Record, page 9)(emphasis added). Clearly, the Administrative Judge believed that Alexander had a job in Florida available to her and that she would be physically capable of performing the job as Dr. O'Brien did not place any restrictions on her that would affect her ability to do this job.

Therefore, the Commission had an absolute duty to consider and investigate Alexander's future wage earning capacity. In order to find Alexander disabled, the Commission should have found a loss in wage earning capacity based upon the evidence. Without considering her future wage earning capacity, the Commission has drastically failed to show any loss of wage earning capacity. This failure caused the Commission to enter an order that was not supported by any substantial evidence and which should be reversed.

-9-

2. Goolsby Trucking, Inc. Is Not Appellee's Employer.

A person may be the servant of two employers at the precise time of the injury, or may be loaned by the general employer to another. *See, Kugh v. Rex Drilling Co.*, 64 so.2d 582 (Miss. 1953). A person may also be the servant of two masters, not joint employers, at one time as to one act, provided the service to one does not involve abandonment of the service to the other. *See, Meridian Taxicab co., Inc. v. Ward*, 186 So. 636 (Miss. 1989). In the case of two authorized employments, the question of the identity of the employer for whom the employee is working at the time of the injury is a question of fact. Dunn, <u>Mississippi Worker's Compensation</u>, § 185 (3d ed. 1982). If the employee is in the course of employment by both at the same time, then liability will be jointly imposed. *Id.* Given the fact of dual employment, it is generally held that joint liability follows if there is **any** evidence of joint service at the time or if the matter of joint service is left in any substantial doubt. *Id.* (Emphasis added).

A person may be a "loaned servant" to an employer who is not her general employer. The common law rule is that a servant, in the general employment of one person, who is loaned to another person to do the latter's work, becomes, for the time being, the servant of the borrower, although she remains in the general employment of the lender. Dunn, <u>Mississippi Worker's</u> <u>Compensation,</u> § 185 (3d ed. 1982). While the "loaned servant" doctrine is generally applicable in the compensation field, a shift of emphasis will be noted towards three distinct factors: (1) whose work is being performed, (2) who controls or has the right to control the workman as to the work being performed, and (3) has the workman voluntarily accepted the special employment. *In Index Drilling Co. v. Williams*, 137 So.2d 525 (Miss. 1962). If the employee does not consent to the employment arrangements of the lending and borrowing employers, then

-10-

the "contract of hire, express or implied," as required by the statute, does not exist and the general employment is not effectively suspended insofar as the rights of the employee are concerned. Dunn, <u>Mississippi Worker's Compensation</u>, § 186 (3d ed. 1982).

,

ì

i

Alexander performed work for both Goolsby Trucking and Fleet simultaneously. She was driving Goolsby's truck and delivering goods to Goolsby's destinations. In doing so promptly and efficiently, she was benefitting Fleet's reputation for providing skilled, dependable and lease-worthy workers. While Goolsby Trucking assigned Appellee her travel destinations, testimony never stated that Goolsby had any control over the manner, method, or route Alexander was to travel in order to reach her destinations. Fleet, on the other hand, had the ultimate control authority, in that they possessed the power to terminate her employment.

As stated, Alexander testified that she was never informed of the employee, lease agreement between Goolsby Trucking and Fleet. Because she never "voluntarily" accepted the "special employment" in relation to the lease arrangement, the general employer, Fleet, remained appellee's master throughout the duration of her employment. Alexander never consented to the arrangement, and Fleet, as the general employer, remained her master throughout the duration of hr employment. Alexander's admission that she never consented to the employment-lease agreement, voids the agreement from its inception. If the employee does not consent to the employment arrangements of the lending and borrowing employers, then the "contract of hire, express or implied as required by the statute, does not exist and the general employment is not effectively suspended insofar as the rights of the employee are concerned. Dunn, <u>Mississippi</u> <u>Worker's Compensation,</u> § 186 (3d ed. 1982). The general employment relationship, therefore, never changed, and Fleet remained the master of Alexander throughout her employment. The

-11-

Commission erred in finding Goolsby Trucking was Alexander's employer and liable for her compensation benefits. This decision was not supported by substantial evidence and should be reversed.

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