IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

GOOLSBY TRUCKING COMPANY, INC.

EMPLOYER/ APPELLANT

V.

CAUSE NO. CV06-273-GA

THERESA ALEXANDER

CLAIMANT/APPELLEE

BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF ALCORN COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

KEITH S. CARLTON
WOOD & CARLTON, P.C.
ATTORNEYS AT LAW
P.O. BOX 1415
CORINTH, MS 38835-1415
662-287-8037
MS. BAR NO:
ATTORNEY FOR APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the Judges/Justices of this Court may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal.

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The standard of review for an Appeal from a decision of the Mississippi Workers' Compensation Commission is very limited. Weatherspoon v. Croft Metals, Inc., 853 So.2d 776, 778 (Miss.2003). The Mississippi Supreme Court has dictated "that the findings and Order of the Workers' Compensation Commission are binding on the Courts as long as they are 'supported by substantial evidence.'" Liberty Mutual Insurance Co. v. Holliman, 765 So.2d 564, 567-8 (Miss.Ct. App.2000)(Quoting Vance v. Twin River Homes, Inc., 641 So.2d 1176, 1180 (Miss.1994)) The Commission's Order will only be reversed "if the Court finds that the Order was clearly erroneous and contrary to the overwhelming weight of the evidence." Id at 568. While this Court may review the findings of fact of the Commission, it is not entitled to re-weigh the facts or substitute its own judgment for that of the Commission. Public Employees' Retirement System v. Marquez, 774 So.2d 421, 425 (Miss.2000) As in this case, where the Commission does not present its own findings of fact, but rather affirms those made by the Administrative Judge, this Court looks to the findings of fact made by the Administrative Law Judge in order to determine whether there is substantial evidence to support them.

A review of the Administrative Judge's findings in this case reveals that there is substantial evidence to support her decision. Based upon the facts set forth in the Trial Record and the prevailing law in the State of Mississippi, there is simply no question that Theresa Alexander was an employee of Goolsby Trucking Company on the date of her injury. Furthermore, the medical and lay proof in the Record establish that the injury in question has caused Alexander to sustain a significant loss of wage-earning capacity. In fact, this Appeal raises no new issues which were not presented to the Commission or the Circuit Court. In short, Goolsby is simply asking this Court to substitute its judgment for that of the

Commission.

After reviewing the oral testimony of the Claimant and other witnesses, as well as the medical depositions and other exhibits entered into the Record, Administrative Judge Wilson entered an Order on November 15, 2005, concluding *inter alia* that Theresa Alexander had sustained a permanent physical injury as a result of the work incident on March 31, 2003, and that said injury had caused a 70% loss of wage-earning capacity. Judge Wilson also concluded that Goolsby Trucking was Alexander's statutory employer. [G.R.E. at 13-15, ¶'s 6, 8[b] and 8[a], respectively]

These conclusions were based on the fact that the Administrative Judge found Alexander to be a very credible witness who had previously displayed a strong work ethic. [G.R.E. at 13,¶6] Alexander's principal vocation since 1990 had been that of a truck driver and Alexander was physically unable to return to her prior employment as a truck driver as a result of the March 31, 2003, injury to her back.

The Administrative Judge further found that Alexander had made reasonable and extensive efforts to find other employment. [G.R.E. at 13,¶7] Her job search had failed to procure any significant gainful employment. Although Alexander had potentially secured a position to work as a mortgage originator in the State of Florida, the prospect of any income from such employment was so uncertain and insecure, that this potential job did not qualify as comparable employment according to the Administrative Judge. Furthermore, due to Alexander's financial restraints, she was unable to relocate her family to Florida to try to start this new job.

Based upon the nature and extent of Alexander's injury, as well as her work restrictions and her inability to return to her former employment, and considering her age, education, work history and her present geographic location, the Administrative Judge concluded that the Claimant had suffered a 70% loss

of wage-earning capacity as a result of the March 31, 2003, injury. The Administrative Judge ordered that the Claimant be paid permanent partial disability benefits in the amount of \$154.34 per week for 450 weeks. [G.R.E. at 14-15, ¶ 8 and Decision, ¶ 1] (This portion of the Order was amended on November 22, 2005, to reflect a typographical error as the Administrative Judge had intended for the Claimant to receive \$331.06 per week based on a 70% loss of wage-earning capacity. [G.R.E at 16]).

After determining that Alexander had sustained a significant loss of wage-earning capacity, the Administrative Judge next addressed the question of whether Alexander was a Goolsby employee. Although Goolsby had argued that Alexander was employed by another company named Fleet Force, Judge Wilson concluded that Alexander was an employee of Goolsby Trucking Company. This decision is based on the fact that Goolsby had hired her; controlled her work; and paid her wages. In reaching this conclusion, Judge Wilson specifically noted that: 1) Alexander had completed an application for employment with Goolsby Trucking Company in New Albany, Mississippi; 2) she had met with Goolsby representatives for the interview; and 3) all documents reflecting any relationship between the parties referenced Goolsby Trucking Company as the Employer. [G.R.E. at 14, ¶8] Goolsby was therefore ordered to pay permanent partial disability benefits, together with penalties and interest, as well as providing medical services and supplies. [G.R.E. at 16]

Goolsby Trucking Company filed a Notice of Appeal to the Full Commission requesting a reversal of the Administrative Judge's decision. Before the Commission, Goolsby presented two (2) arguments in support of its petition for relief:

Goolsby argued that Theresa Alexander is not entitled to permanent partial disability benefits;
 and

2. Goolsby argued that, even if Theresa Alexander were entitled to disability benefits, the Administrative Judge erred in concluding that Goolsby was her employer.

Goolsby's appeal was thoroughly considered by the Mississippi Workers' Compensation Commission. The parties submitted extensive briefs. After reviewing the Record of the proceedings and considering the arguments of the parties, the Commission entered an Order dated June 13, 2006, affirming and adopting the Order and findings of the Administrative Judge in all respects. [G.R.E. at 2] This decision was later affirmed by the Circuit Court of Alcorn County by Order dated November 10, 2006. [G.R.E. at 20] Goolsby raises those same arguments in this appeal. Because the decision by the Administrative Judge/Commission is based on a factual determination regarding the extent of her injury and the nature of her employment, that decision should be affirmed since there is overwhelming evidence to support it.

ARGUMENT

I. SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE SUPPORTS THE WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION'S FINDING THAT ALEXANDER HAS SUSTAINED A 70% LOSS OF WAGE EARNING CAPACITY.

The standard of review for Appeals from the decision of the Workers' Compensation Commission is well settled. "Absent an error of law, and if the decision of the Commission is based upon substantial evidence, the decision will be affirmed on appeal." *Metal Trims Industries, Inc. v. Stovall*, 562 So.2d 1293, 1296-7 (Miss.1990).

No court will reverse the Commission's decision so long as there is a "quantum of credible evidence" supporting the decision. *Id.* at 1297. This is the case even though the evidence might convince this Court otherwise if it were the finder of fact. *Vance v. Twin River Homes, Inc.*, 641 So.2d 1176, 1180 (Miss. 1994).

"This highly deferential standard of review essentially means that a Court will not overturn a Commission decision unless the court finds that the Commission's decision was arbitrary and capricious." Georgia Pacific Corp. v. Taplin, 586 So.2d 823, 826 (Miss. 1991). A court clearly commits error if it supplants its judgment for that of the Commission. Natchez Equipment Co., Inc. v. Gibbs, 623 So.2d 270, 274 (Miss. 1993).

A review of the undisputed facts in this Record clearly shows that there is substantial evidence to support the finding by the Commission that Alexander had sustained, at the very least, a 70% loss of wage-earning capacity as a result of this work incident. It is undisputed that Alexander has devoted most of her work life to being a truck driver. It is undisputed that as a result of the work injury in March of 2003,

Alexander now has pain and limitations which affect her ability to function and which prevent her from returning to her former employment of nearly 15 years. The undisputed medical proof clearly establishes that the work incident in March 2003 caused her to sustain three (3) disc protrusions in her thoracic spine.

Dr. O'Brien's testimony confirms that these disks were normal in 2001 and were severely injured in the March 2003 incident.

The Record displays, as the Administrative Judge concluded, that Alexander has a strong work ethic and is a single mother who has suffered financially and who still has significant pain as a result of this injury. In this case, Alexander was not allowed to complete the medical treatment recommended by Dr. Crosby, and her condition continued to deteriorate when she attempted to return to work to take care of her family. Although she attempted to continue her career for nearly a year prior to seeing Dr. O'Brien, Alexander was subsequently advised to cease work as a truck driver. The inability to return to this type of work has drastically impacted Ms Alexander's capacity to earn a living.

When she was advised by Dr. O'Brien that she could no longer return to driving a truck, Alexander began to extensively search for light duty employment at various employers in her local geographical area. Unfortunately, she was unsuccessful in obtaining any light duty employment. Given her injury, her age and her lack of experience in anything other than working as a truck driver or dispatcher this is a likely scenario. She did attempt to better herself by enrolling in a course to obtain a Mortgage Originator License. She registered this license with a broker in Florida; however, at the time of the Hearing, Alexander had been unable to begin to work at this occupation because she did not have the guarantee of any steady income and could not afford to move to Florida.

"Disability" under the Workers' Compensation Law is defined as the "incapacity due to injury, to

earn the wages which the employee was receiving at the time of the injury, in the same or other employment." *Mississippi Code Annotated Section* 71-3-3(i). Once a permanent injury has been established, the Claimant proves her "disability" by showing that she has sought and been unable to find work in the same or other employment at a comparable wage. *Coulter v. Harvey*, 190 So.2d 894, 897 (Miss. 1966). Various factors have been listed by our Supreme Court as important to the loss of wage-earning capacity analysis. In *Delaughter v. South Central Tractor Parts*, 642 So.2d 375, 379 (Miss. 1994), the Court stated that loss of wage-earning capacity is determined by "the amount of education and training which the Claimant has had, his inability to work, his failure to be hired elsewhere and the continuance of pain and other related circumstances."

In a workers' compensation case, the Claimant has the burden to prove that she has sustained a medical impairment as a result of her industrial injury and that the medical impairment resulted in a loss of wage-earning capacity. *Richards v. Harrah's Entertainment, Inc.*, 881 So.2d 329, 332 (Miss.Ct. App.2004). The decision as to the extent of loss of wage-earning capacity is "largely factual and largely left to the discretion and estimate of the Commission." Dunn, Vardeman S., *Mississippi Workers' Compensation*, § 68 (3rd Edition, 1982) at 80. An injured employee establishes a prima facie case of disability by showing that because of the work related injury he cannot secure work in the same or other jobs at pre-injury pay. *Georgia Pacific Corp. v. Taplin*, 586 So.2d 823, 827 (Miss.1991).

In this case, the Commission was required to determine the extent of Claimant's loss of wage-earning capacity by considering the evidence as a whole. *Delaughter v. South Central Tractor Parts*, 642 So.2d 375, 379 (Miss.1994). In the present case, there was ample evidence to support the Commission/Administrative Judge's finding of 70% of loss of wage-earning capacity. This factual

determination was within the province of the Commission as fact finder and is clearly supported by the fact that the work injury has caused serious complications in Alexander's thoracic spine. Even though she attempted for a period of time to return to this form of work, ultimately, her (3) disc protrusions progressively worsened to the point where her orthopaedic surgeon advised her not to return to her former type of employment.

At the time of the injury Alexander was earning approximately \$920.00 per week working as a truck driver. Truck driving had been her exclusive vocation for nearly 15 years. Given her age, lack of experience and her minimal work history in any other employment, she arguably established a case for 100% permanent total occupational loss. Dr. O'Brien testified that he didn't believe that she could return to any work except possibly in a reduced capacity in some type of office job. [G.R.E. at 74] The Record demonstrates that she has not been able to find a job to replace her wages, even though she has extensively searched the local geographic area. Her only hope at this point was to try to move to Florida where she has obtained a mortgage origination license and hope that she can "hustle up" some business.

This Court should be mindful of the fact Goolsby Trucking Company does not dispute the fact that Alexander cannot return to trucking nor did it submit any proof that she could work as a truck driver. Goolsby did not argue that Alexander had not made reasonable efforts to try to find other employment. Goolsby's only argument is that, because Alexander has now obtained a Mortgage Broker's License, she somehow has no wage loss. According to Goolsby, her failure to move to Florida and begin work is some type of "sham" or 'hoax". These "allegations" by Goolsby are simply allegations and there are no facts to support them. Alexander acknowledged at the Hearing that she hoped to be able to move to Florida, but she did not have the financial resources at the present time to relocate and she further explained that she

had no guarantee of any type of income if she moved. Her decision to obtain the Mortgage License was simply an effort to provide her with some options down the road if she were, in fact, able to relocate.

Goolsby's statement that "[T]he issue in this case is not that she sought employment, but that she has been accepted for employment, and yet refuses to work" simply misstates the facts. [Goolsby Brief at 10, 13] There is no offer of employment from Friendly Financial Services in Florida. There is no guaranteed salary, no benefits, no moving expenses, no detailed job duties. Alexander has merely been allowed to register her license under a Florida broker. This is proposed self employment. It would be similar to commission only sales. Alexander certainly has not refused to go to work, but rather the move to Florida is a risky venture that Alexander cannot afford to take at this time. [T.R. at 46-47, 57]

Goolsby submitted with its brief a National Compensation Survey for Tampa/St. Petersburg, Florida, which was prepared in 2004. These statistics show average wages for various types of employment in the Florida economy. Based on these statistics, Goolsby has argued that Alexander could somehow be making "\$38.19 per hour in the Tampa/St. Petersburg market because she has a 'professional specialty'." These late filed "statistics," were not a part of the Record and furthermore they offer no evidence that Alexander could make this type of money if she could move to Florida. The term "professional specialty" is not defined by Goolsby's statistics and there is nothing to suggest that working as a Mortgage Originator would qualify as a professional specialty career.

Furthermore, it is preposterous to assume that Alexander would stay in Mississippi waiting on a workers' compensation settlement if she could move to Florida and make nearly \$80,000.00 a year as Goolsby suggests. This type of action is wholly contrary to Judge Wilson's assessment of Alexander. Judge Wilson identified Alexander as having a strong work ethic and there in nothing in the Record to suggest

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